Renewable Energy 149 (2020) 1314-1324

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Renewable Energy

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/renene

The future need for flexibility and the impact of fluctuating renewable power generation

Christoph Brunner^{a,*}, Gerda Deac^b, Sebastian Braun^c, Christoph Zöphel^d

^a EnBW Energie Baden-Württemberg AG, Short-Term Analysis, Durlacher Allee 93, 76131, Karlsruhe, Germany ^b Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research ISI, Competence Center Energy Policy and Energy Markets, Breslauer Str. 48, 76139, Karlsruhe, Germany

^c ICIS Analytics, Stephanienstraße 86, 76133, Karlsruhe, Germany

^d Chair of Energy Economics, TU Dresden, Münchner Platz 3, 01069, Dresden, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 April 2019 Received in revised form 20 October 2019 Accepted 22 October 2019 Available online 25 October 2019

Keywords: Flexibility Fluctuating renewable energy sources Residual load Future power systems

ABSTRACT

A power system with 80% renewable energy sources (RES) requires significant provision of flexibility to balance the deviations of fluctuating solar and wind power. This paper focuses on how a smart mix of renewable generation technologies can reduce the demand for flexibility and therefore the overall system costs. To measure the demand for flexibility in systems with high RES generation, the term flexibility is defined and described using predictable indicators such as the difference between the highest and the lowest residual demand or the number of hours with negative residual load during a year. This definition is required to determine the optimal mix of RES installations. Optimization is performed for Germany based on the grid development plan of the transmission system operators. In contrast to most studies of the future energy system that foresee a further expansion of onshore wind, this paper shows that higher shares of offshore wind and, to some extent, photovoltaic are better suited to reducing the demand for flexibility and thus the cost of integrating fluctuating RES into the system.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1314		
2.	Characteristics of intermittent renewables	1315		
3.	Determination of hourly time series	1315		
4.	Definition of future flexibility needs	1318		
5.	Optimal combination of intermittent renewables			
5.1. Assumptions and constraints				
5.2. Objectives				
	5.2.1. Minimal range of residual load	1321		
	5.2.2. Minimal surplus energy	1321		
	5.2.3. Minimal surplus time	1321		
	5.3. Results	1321		
6.	Conclusions	1322		
	Declaration of competing interest	1324		
	References	1324		
	Further Reading	1324		
	с. С			

* Corresponding author.

1. Introduction

The continuous increase of electricity generated by intermittent

ELSEVIER

Review





E-mail addresses: ch.brunner@enbw.com (C. Brunner), gerda.deac@isi. fraunhofer.de (G. Deac), Sebastian.braun@icis.com (S. Braun), christoph.zoephel@ tu-dresden.de (C. Zöphel).

renewable energy sources (RES) is changing the present generation structure considerably. In addition to fluctuations in demand, generation is becoming more and more volatile as well. The remaining residual load to be covered by conventional power plants and dispatchable RES will become dominated by the character of intermittent RES. In particular, the gradients of the residual load increase whenever volatile demand and stochastic RES generation coincide [1]. In order to utilize a high share of weatherdependent RES, the electricity system, which was originally designed to follow fluctuating demand, needs to become more flexible than it is today.

The level of flexibility needed to balance a fluctuating RES-based energy system depends largely on the underlying assumptions about the future energy system [2]; p. 66). When comparing different studies on the development of the energy system, as done by Sterner & Stadler [3]; p. 114), among others, it becomes clear that the need for flexibility ranges widely, even with comparable ratios of RES. There is extensive literature on the influence different assumptions have on the future need for flexibility. These include, for instance, premises regarding the actual share of different RES types [4,5,33], the operation mode of RES generation in terms of feed-in priority, curtailment and export options [6,31], the development of conventional generation [7] as well as interactions between different flexibility measures and other energy sources and sectors [8].

All these factors together lead to high uncertainty concerning the precise share of the different intermittent RES types and the future need for flexibility. Additionally, because there is a political goal of stronger market integration and a more competitive expansion of RES [9]; p. 82), the exact shares of intermittent RES are hard to predict. Due to their individual generation characteristics, various possible combinations of these fluctuating RES also lead to uncertainty regarding the actual flexibility requirements for the future.

Most of the above-mentioned literature analyzes the future need for flexibility by examining characteristics such as the guantity of surplus energy generated by RES [32] and is based on assumptions, for example, about the installed future RES capacities [10,11]. In contrast, the focus of this paper is on analyzing what combinations of fluctuating RES capacities can help to minimize the need for flexibility in a future energy system with 80% variable RES. In addition, since the term flexibility is often not sufficiently defined, it is subdivided into different dimensions. Two main questions arise in this context. First, whether an optimal combination of intermittent RES can minimize the future need for flexibility, and second, whether the dominant role of onshore wind predicted in most scenarios of the future energy system, e.g. in the Grid Development Plan [12] of the German transmission system operators (TSO), is the right strategy. This paper explores whether there are other combinations of fluctuating RES that might have a higher levelized cost of electricity, but require less flexibility and are therefore able to reduce the system integration costs of intermittent RES.

To set the foundation for this analysis, the second part of this paper focuses on the dissimilar nature of photovoltaic (PV) and onshore as well as offshore wind power generation. The third part explains how the time series for intermittent RES is determined. Part four focuses on deriving three parameters that can be used to characterize the future need for flexibility in more detail. Based on this, part five calculates the optimal combinations of intermittent RES with respect to these different dimensions of flexibility. Finally, the last part summarizes the main findings and conclusions.

2. Characteristics of intermittent renewables

Weather-dependent RES, such as PV and wind power, are characterized by strongly intermittent generation. However, the effects of this dependence on meteorological conditions differ considerably between PV, onshore and offshore wind.

PV, for instance, has a day-night rhythm that correlates to some extent with the aggregated daily demand pattern of consumers (see Fig. 1a). Nevertheless, due to changing weather conditions with varying degrees of cloudiness, PV also shows intraday fluctuations [1]. Furthermore, the annual sun path in the northern hemisphere means that PV displays seasonal patterns as well and the average PV generation in Germany varies remarkably between summer and winter (see Fig. 1b).

In general, all time series are based on actual data from 2011, as this year was close to the long-term average in Germany in terms of temperature, solar radiation and wind speed. For the same reason, this year was chosen as the basis for the German Grid Development Plan 2025 [13]; p. 31). In addition, using historical data from this year also has the advantage that the demand load of the entire system is free of extraordinary effects like the financial crisis in 2008–2009.

Although onshore and offshore wind also display seasonal profiles, wind power generation is more stochastic. Depending on the actual weather situation, the available amount of wind energy can fluctuate heavily within hours or remain quite constant over several days. Therefore, the course of the average availability of onshore and offshore wind throughout the day is rather flat as illustrated in Fig. 1a. However, in general, it can be expected that wind generation in Germany is higher in winter than in summer (see Fig. 1b).

Furthermore, in terms of average availability, there is a significant difference between onshore and offshore wind (see Fig. 1a and b). Due to higher average wind speeds and less influence of surface roughness, offshore wind power generation has lower variability and therefore higher full load hours than onshore wind power generation.

Despite differences in their overall availability, Fig. 1b shows that onshore and offshore wind are highly correlated on a monthly basis. That this interdependence also holds true for shorter time resolutions becomes evident in Fig. 2a, which compares the yearly coefficient of determination (\mathbb{R}^2) for both wind power types on an hourly basis. High variation of onshore wind availability is noticeable during times with maximum offshore wind availability, i.e. the accumulation of points in Fig. 2a that almost looks like a solid line. This higher availability of offshore wind compared to onshore wind can be attributed to the differing variability between onshore and offshore wind mentioned above.

The complementarity of PV and onshore/offshore wind that is already indicated on a seasonal level in Fig. 1b can also be confirmed on an hourly basis by the annual correlations shown in Fig. 2b and c. Again, the more continuous availability of offshore wind compared to onshore wind is apparent when comparing the accumulation of points for high offshore availabilities on the far right-hand side on Fig. 2b, which is missing for the maximal onshore wind situations in Fig. 2c. However, it should be noted that another main factor for the very low yearly R² factor between PV and both types of wind power is the day-night rhythm of PV, which results in operating hours of zero for about half of the year, while wind power can be generated night and day.

3. Determination of hourly time series

The above used time series for the analysis are theoretically possible hourly RES values that are influenced by many factors.



Fig. 1. Yearly average demand and availability for photovoltaic (PV), onshore and offshore wind generation a) per hour of day and b) per month based on the meteorological characteristics in 2011. Source: Own calculation based on [13–16].

Besides the actual meteorological weather conditions in a particular year, how RES technologies develop is important. Furthermore, the location of the RES units also has an influence because the amplitude of the variations decreases with the aggregation of units due to spatial balancing effects, especially for PV and onshore wind electricity generation [17]; p. 11). The procedures for determining the hourly time series used in the analyses throughout this paper are described in more detail below.

The future development of demand is hard to predict because there are two opposing factors at work. Energy efficiency measures on the consumer side can lower the demand for power, while the electrification of energy demand in other sectors, e.g. mobility, power-to-heat and power-to-gas, can increase it. Therefore, the German Grid Development Plan 2025 assumes that net electricity consumption will remain constant at 543.6 TWh/year over the next decades [13]; p. 31). In order to adjust the future time series of electricity demand to this annual quantity, the 2011 hourly consumption values in Germany, which can be downloaded from the homepage of the European Network of Transmission System Operators for Electricity (entso-e), are linearly scaled [15].

Since the aim is to calculate the optimal combination of the installed capacities of intermittent RES that minimize the future need for flexibility, the hourly time series for all weatherdependent RES have to be normalized. To eliminate sub-annual capacity expansion effects of about 7.5 GW for PV and about 1.7 GW for onshore wind in 2011 [18]; p. 12), the actual generation values for this year are adjusted accordingly (anemos, 2013). The comparison in Table 1 shows that the historical full-load hours for 2011 differ from the future values assumed by the TSO [13]; p. 76). Reasons for these deviations are, among others, the abovementioned technical development and the changing regional RES distribution. Since the full-load hours for PV are supposed to decrease from 1,009 h/year to 941 h/year in the future, the normalized time series for 2011 is scaled down linearly by that ratio, i.e. a factor of 0.93. In contrast to PV, the annual full-load hours for onshore wind are assumed to increase slightly. The TSO assumptions can be explained by the fact that the predominant expansion of onshore wind at less windy locations in southern Germany is largely compensated by technological developments, such as rising hub heights and increased rotor power. Hence, to derive the hourly values for onshore wind in the future, the 2011

normalized time series are scaled up linearly by a factor of 1.01.

Due to the later deployment of offshore wind compared to PV and onshore wind, the quality of actual generation data for offshore wind in 2011 is not really sufficient for future projections. Both the low absolute number of units in 2011 and the higher proportion of facilities in the Baltic Sea would underestimate the regional distribution effects that is likely to increase with a significant expansion of offshore wind. Therefore, a different process is used to derive the offshore wind time series. Wind speed data from 2011 at 116 m above sea level for 17 locations in the North Sea and Baltic Sea [16] and the power curves of two different wind turbines are used in combination with the assumption that more units will be installed in the North Sea in the future than in the Baltic Sea [19]. To account for planned and unplanned non-availabilities, the maximum normalized German offshore wind potential is set to 95%, deduced from historical wind speed data. This is in line with literature values that range between 90% [20]; p. 9) and 97% [21]; p. 72). Furthermore, as illustrated by the dotted line in Fig. 4, the yearly duration curve of availability for offshore wind is very different to those for PV and onshore wind. While harnessing PV is limited to daylight hours, i.e. about 4,000 h/a, onshore and offshore wind can be utilized all year round, even if only to a very small extent. Another difference is that the annual availability duration curve of offshore wind is quite flat at the top. The assumed maximum availability of 95% is achieved for approximately a few hundred hours per year. Thus, setting a maximum feed-in cap for offshore wind would considerably reduce the cost effectiveness of wind power from the North and Baltic Seas. In addition, since offshore wind is supposed to make a significant contribution to the energy supply from RES, the TSOs have to prepare recurring offshore grid development plans to facilitate an efficient and sustainable expansion of the electricity grid [22]. Therefore, the curtailment assumed for onshore wind and PV is neglected for offshore wind in the future.

With respect to the different availability profiles, adapting the full load hours for the offshore time series to a specific weather year by simple linear scaling would lead to unrealistic results. For example, in the case of an upscale, the availability would always be above the defined maximum limit of 95% for several hundred hours per year. Hence the following scaling algorithm is used to retain the temporal characteristics of the 2011 normalized time series, but to



Fig. 2. Yearly coincidence and coefficient of determination (R^2) of a) offshore and onshore wind supply b) photovoltaic (PV) and offshore wind supply c) photovoltaic (PV) and onshore wind supply each in an hourly time resolution based on the meteorological characteristics in 2011. Source: Own calculation based on [13,14,16].

Table 1

Actual full load hours per year for different fluctuating renewable energy sources in 2011 and assumptions for 2025 and beyond.

(1)

Technology	Actual data in 2011 [h/a]	Assumption for 2025 and beyond [h/a]
Photovoltaic	1,009	941
Onshore wind	1,946	1,973
Offshore wind	4,379	4,402

Source [13]: and own calculation based on (anemos, 2013) [16].

ensure realistic minimum and maximum values that are visible in the s-shaped availability duration curve of offshore wind.

$$p_{NEP}(t) = (1 - (max(p_{2011}(t)) - p_{2011}(t)) \cdot s) \cdot p_{2011}(t), \forall t$$

= {1, ..., 8760}

 $p_{2011}(t)$: Normalized value of time series derived from the meteorological data of 2011 in hourly time resolution [-]

 $p_{NEP}(t)$: Adjusted value of the normalized time series $p_{2011}(t)$ with yearly full load hours according the German Grid Development Plan 2025 (NEP) in hourly time resolution [-] s: Scaling factor [-]

As indicated in Fig. 3, this formula includes an additive and a multiplicative part. The additive part describes increased generation due to higher hub heights. These effects are considered in a simplified way as a shift of the turbine power curve to the left compared to today's power curve at lower hub heights (dotted line). The multiplicative part takes higher part load efficiency into account, mainly achieved by better rotor-to-generator ratios (dashed line).

In order to avoid grid expansion for using the last kWh of power from RES, it is already usual and socially accepted today to limit the generation of wind and PV units during supply peaks. Since the TSOs also assume a certain limitation of onshore wind and PV generation due to grid issues in the future, the peak values for the standardized time series are capped according to the figures given in the German Grid Development Plan, i.e. 1.2% of the annual energy supply from PV, and 1.7% for onshore wind [13]; p. 40). Fig. 4 depicts the difference between the theoretically possible and the limited maximum actual RES generation in the future. The solid, framed and dotted lines show the normalized yearly duration curves in hourly time resolution for PV, onshore and offshore wind, respectively.

4. Definition of future flexibility needs

According to the definition of the International Energy Agency (IEA), flexibility in an energy context is the general ability of an energy system to react to changes in generation and demand over time [23]; p. 35). The ongoing increase of electricity generation from fluctuating RES is expected to raise the system's need for flexibility even further. A suitable measure to describe the future need for flexibility is the development of the residual load. According to Fig. 5 and equation (2), the residual load curve can be derived from the difference between the hourly demand load of the entire system and non-dispatchable RES, i.e. run-of-river, PV, onshore and offshore wind.

From an economic point of view, it is always sensible to use these RES if available because of their low variable costs compared to other fuel-based power plants. It is assumed that these low variable costs of RES can also be neglected in the dispatch decision for the future. This assumption is based on the expectation that rational consumers will adapt their behavior in the long run, e.g. via power-to-heat or power-to-gas, if significant quantities of RES electricity with negligible marginal generation costs become available more often [24]; p. 57). While the non-dispatchable RES generation from run-of-river, PV, onshore and offshore wind is considered explicitly when calculating the residual load, other factors are disregarded. As can be seen in Fig. 5, this means that fuel-based generation from other RES or conventional power plants as well as so-called must-run generation to fulfil obligations for providing combined heat and power or ancillary services are neglected as are imports/exports from/to neighboring countries.

In the past, the residual load was always positive without



Fig. 3. Illustration of additive and multiplicative effects addressed in time series scaling procedure for offshore wind.

exceptions. However, in some local regions in Germany, surpluses of RES generation are already occurring during very sunny and windy hours that coincide with low electricity demand [25]. Given the growing share of intermittent RES, it is expected that situations with negative residual load will occur for the aggregated German residual load as well.

The interaction of fluctuating load demand and weatherdependent electricity generation leads to different residual load patterns and different flexibility needs. In general, four residual load curve sections can be distinguished in terms of the need for flexibility as displayed in Fig. 6. On the one hand, the curve can be split into positive and negative residual load depending on the surplus or lack of RES electricity. On the other hand, there are phases with increasing or decreasing gradients of the residual load.

Besides the change of the residual load over time, there are further parameters that can be used to characterize the system's need for flexibility. These attributes can be derived with the help of the residual load duration curve as displayed in Fig. 7 and are described below:

- A) Residual load range: Difference between highest and lowest residual demand of the year.
- B) Surplus energy: Cumulated negative residual load over the year.
- C) Surplus time: Number of hours with negative residual load.

The following analysis focuses on the divergence of these three flexibility characteristics. Different optimization problems are executed to derive the optimal combination of fluctuating RES for a future energy system with 80% RES that minimizes the flexibility needs with respect to these characteristics.

5. Optimal combination of intermittent renewables

5.1. Assumptions and constraints

The reference scenario is based on the assumptions in the first draft of the German Grid Development Plan 2025 (A 2025 scenario). This scenario describes the lower bound of the RES growth expected by the German TSO and the responsible regulatory authority. The key figures of this scenario are summarized in Table 2. The share of intermittent RES accounts for 36% while the total share of RES is 46%. However, the total installed capacity of RES is assumed to comply with the long-term renewable target of [9]; which aims at a total RES share of 80%. The difference between 46% and 80%, which amounts to 186.7 TWh/year, is supposed to be covered by PV, onshore and offshore wind. This paper uses a scenario analysis to derive the optimal combination of these three RES in terms of demand for flexibility. An additional aim is to analyze the impact of the outlined variations in availability and contemporaneity of wind and solar power (see section 2) on the three different flexibility characteristics (see section 4) under otherwise equal conditions.

As the gap to the RES target of 80% is closed solely by additional fluctuating wind and solar power, the first constraint for all three optimizations is (3).

$$RES_{TAR} = RES_{REF} + RES_{PV+} + RES_{ON+} + RES_{OF+}$$
(3)

RES_{TAR}: Required electricity from renewable energy sources (RES) in the target scenario [TWh/a]

RES_{REF}: Available electricity from renewable energy sources (RES) in the reference scenario [TWh/a]

*RES*_{PV+}: Additional electricity from photovoltaic [TWh/a]



Fig. 4. Yearly duration curve of availability for photovoltaic (PV), onshore and offshore wind generation based on the meteorological characteristics in 2011. Source: Own calculation based on [13,14,16].



Fig. 5. Determining the residual load.

$$RL(t) = DL(t) - RR(t) - PV(t) - ON(t) - OF(t)$$

RL(t): Residual load of the entire system in time period t $\left[GW\right]$

DL(t): Demand load of the entire system at time t [GW] RR(t): Available electricity from run-of-river at time t [GW]

PV(t): Available electricity from photovoltaic at time t [GW]

ON(t): Available electricity from onshore wind at time t [GW]

OF(t): Available electricity from offshore wind at time t [GW]



Fig. 6. Typical sections of the residual load and the associated flexibility need [26]; p. 7).

(2)



Fig. 7. Flexibility characteristics derived from the yearly residual load duration curve for an energy system with a high share of fluctuating renewable energy sources.

 RES_{ON+} : Additional electricity from onshore wind [TWh/a] RES_{OF+} : Additional electricity from offshore wind [TWh/a]

The decision variables for each optimization are therefore the installed capacities of onshore wind, offshore wind and PV. The lower bounds for these RES capacities are the reference system values (scenario A 2025 of the German Grid Development Plan) given in Table 2. These limitations ensure that the political RES targets for 2025 are achieved and prevent any uneconomic decommissioning of these units shortly after.

The upper limits are derived by assuming that the RES gap between the targeted energy system with a total renewable share of 80% and the reference system with 46% RES is only closed with one of the three available fluctuating RES types. These maximal capacities are derived using the assumed annual full-load hours in the German Grid Development Plan (A 2025 scenario) that are also implicitly given in the data in Table 2. Thus, further constraints for the three optimization problems are (4) to (6) with the corresponding minimal and maximal capacities listed in Table 3.

$$PV_{MIN} \leq PV_{OP} \leq PV_{MAX}$$
 (4)

 $ON_{MIN} \leq ON_{OP} \leq ON_{MAX}$ (5)

$$OF_{MIN} \leq OF_{OP} \leq OF_{MAX}$$
 (6)

PV_{min}/OR_{min}/OF_{min}: Minimal capacity for photovoltaic/onshore wind/offshore wind [GW]

*PV*_{op}/*ON*_{op}/*OF*_{op}: Optimal capacity for photovoltaic/onshore wind/offshore wind [GW]

PV_{max}/OP_{max}: Maximal capacity for photovoltaic/onshore wind/offshore wind [GW]

Table 2

Assumptions for renewable energy sources (RES) in the reference system with 46% RES based on scenario A 2025 of the German Grid Development Plan.

Installed capacity [GW]		Annual generation [TWh/a]		
Photovoltaic	54.1	50.9		
Onshore wind	53.0	104.6		
Offshore wind	8.9	39.2		
Biomass	6.4	35.9		
Run off river	3.9	14.8		
Other RES	0.5	2.8		

The weather-dependent nature of solar, onshore and offshore wind power generation represents an additional constraint for the optimization problems. As indicated in (7) to (9), a normalized structure with hourly time intervals is used to represent the fluctuating availability of these RES types over time (see section 3 and Fig. 4).

$$f_{PV}(t), t = \{1, ..., 8760\}$$
(7)

$$f_{\rm ON}(t), t = \{1, ..., 8760\}$$
 (8)

$$f_{OF}(t), t = \{1, ..., 8760\}$$
(9)

 $f_{PV}(t)$: Normalized availability of photovoltaic in hourly time resolution [-]

 $f_{ON}(t)$: Normalized availability of onshore wind in hourly time resolution [-]

 $f_{OF}(t)$: Normalized availability of offshore wind in hourly time resolution [-]

The overall electricity demand and the availability of wind and solar power are both functions over time, so the residual load in the target scenario is highly time-dependent as well. The detailed calculation of the residual load in the target scenarios is shown in (10). The residual load calculations are based on hourly time series from 2011 for the overall system demand (entso-e, 2014) and meteorological data (anemos, 2013) for wind onshore, wind offshore and PV in Germany.

$$RL_{TAR}(t) = DL_{REF}(t) - RR_{REF}(t) - (PV_{OP} \cdot f_{PV}(t)) - (ON_{OP} \cdot f_{ON}(t)) - (OF_{OP} \cdot f_{OF}(t)), \forall t$$

= {1, ..., 8760}, s.t. (4) - (9) (10)

 Table 3

 Minimal and maximal installed capacities as upper and lower bounds for the decision variables.

	Minimal capacity [GW]	Maximal capacity [GW]
Photovoltaic	54.1	253.1
Onshore wind	53.0	148.2
Offshore wind	8.9	51.4

 $RL_{TAR}(t)$: Residual load of the entire system for the target scenarios in time period t [GW]

 $DL_{REF}(t)$: Demand load of the entire system for the reference scenario at time t [GW] $RR_{REF}(t)$: Available electricity from run-of-river for the reference scenario at time t [GW]

The framework conditions described above form the basis for minimizing the flexibility need of the future energy system. In the following, the three optimization approaches are described in detail. As indicated by the time component t in constraints (7) to (9) and in constraint (10) in particular, the optimization results are strongly determined by the time-dependent availability of RES and the fluctuation of the overall system demand. For consistency, all the calculations are based on the weather conditions in 2011 and the results represent this specific meteorological year.

5.2. Objectives

5.2.1. Minimal range of residual load

The aim of this optimization problem is to minimize the need for flexibility in terms of the total capacity required in the system to balance all the residual load situations. Figuratively speaking, this can be described as the difference between the maximal and minimal residual load that occurs within a given time period. In Fig. 7, this difference is indicated by the span between the upper and lower end of the annual residual load duration curve. The mathematical formulation of this optimization problem is given in (11). The decision variables are the installed capacities of photovoltaic, onshore and offshore wind with the respective individual constraints defined in (4) to (9). The most important constraint with regard to this optimization problem is constraint (10), which describes the residual load calculation.

$$\Delta RL(PV_{OP}, ON_{OP}, OF_{OP}) = \max(RL_{TAR}(PV_{OP}, ON_{OP}, OF_{OP}, t)) - \min(RL_{TAR}(PV_{OP}, ON_{OP}, OF_{OP}, t)),$$

$$\forall t = \{1, ..., 8760\},$$

$$\rightarrow \mininitze,$$
s.t. (4) - (10)
(11)

 $\Delta RL (PV_{OP}, ON_{OP}, OF_{OP})$: Range of residual load of the entire system for a particular weather year with the capacities of photovoltaic, onshore and offshore wind as decision variables [GW].

5.2.2. Minimal surplus energy

The motivation behind this optimization is to identify the combination of photovoltaic, onshore and offshore wind that minimizes the surplus energy in the system. In Fig. 7, this case is illustrated by the sum of electricity during RES surplus periods within one year that can be described as the integral of the negative residual load (grey-shaded area B). This approach follows the argumentation that lower RES surpluses lead to less curtailment and therefore higher RES utilization. This might not be the macroeconomic optimum, but is nevertheless a reasonable aspiration for the future energy system. The underlying objective function for this optimization is described by (12), and the limiting constraints are the same as for the one above that minimizes the total range of the residual load.

$$W_{RL-}(PV_{OP}, ON_{OP}, OF_{OP}) = \sum_{t} RL_{TAR}(PV_{OP}, ON_{OP}, OF_{OP}, t),$$

$$\forall RL_{TAR}(PV_{OP}, ON_{OP}, OF_{OP}, t) < 0,$$

$$t = \{1, ..., 8760\}$$

$$\rightarrow minimize,$$

s.t. (4) - (10)
(12)

 $W_{RL-}(PV_{OP}, ON_{OP}, OF_{OP})$: Sum of surplus electricity of the entire system from non-dispatchable renewable energy sources for a particular weather year with the capacities of photovoltaic, onshore and offshore wind as decision variables [GWh].

5.2.3. Minimal surplus time

The final approach to minimize the future need for flexibility in the target scenario addresses the surplus time. This is defined as the number of hours in one year with surplus electricity from nondispatchable RES. As depicted in Fig. 7, it can be illustrated as the intersection of the residual load duration curve and the abscissae. Equation (13) describes the corresponding optimization problem using the signum function. Again, the constraints for this optimization are the upper and lower bounds for the installed capacities of photovoltaic, onshore and offshore wind as well as the timedependent residual load calculation defined by (4) to (10). In contrast to the two other flexibility properties, this is of particular importance for those wanting to invest in the future energy system. For instance, it helps both investors in additional RES units and financiers of flexibility options to estimate their future operating hours, which are essential when calculating profitability.

$$T_{RL-}(PV_{OP}, ON_{OP}, OF_{OP}) = \sum_{t} sgn(RL_{TAR}(PV_{OP}, ON_{OP}, OF_{OP}, t)),$$

$$\forall sgn(RL_{TAR}(PV_{OP}, ON_{OP}, OF_{OP}, t)) = -1$$

$$t = \{1, ..., 8760\}$$

$$\rightarrow minimize,$$

s.t. (4) - (10)
(13)

 T_{RL-} (*PV_{OP}*, *ON_{OP}*, *OF_{OP}*): Number of hours with an aggregated surplus from non-dispatchable renewable energy sources of the entire system for a particular weather year with the capacities of photovoltaic, onshore and offshore wind as decision variables [-]

All three optimizations were carried out in Microsoft Excel. The chosen solver was executed with the generalized reduced gradient (GRG) algorithm ignoring integer constraints and using a multi-start option.

5.3. Results

Table 4 shows the outcomes of the three different approaches to deriving the optimal combination of fluctuating RES for a future energy system with 80% RES. It must be pointed out here that these results would be different for different meteorological years.

When minimizing the overall range of the residual load, the results suggest that only offshore wind should be expanded further (+42.4 GW or +186.7 TWh/year) compared to the reference scenario. That PV and onshore wind should remain at their reference levels can be explained by their higher supply variability and lower operating hours compared to offshore wind (see Figs. 1 and 4).

When minimizing surplus energy, the optimization results indicate that a combination of additional PV (+42.9 GW or +40.4 TWh/year) and offshore wind (+33.2 GW or +146.4 TWh/year) should be favored. The basic argument for this RES mix is the

highly uncorrelated availability of PV and offshore wind (see Fig. 2b). This means that expanding both these RES types makes it possible to exploit the less volatile offshore wind generation with higher full-load hours per year as well as the day-night rhythm of PV that partly correlates with the daily demand load pattern (see Fig. 1b). Onshore wind, which currently has the lowest generating cost of all three fluctuating RES types, should remain at reference level in this scenario as well.

This is not the case when minimizing the surplus time. Here, the optimization results in various possible combinations of additional RES. However, the figures vary only slightly within in a range of 6–20 GW per RES as displayed in Table 4. It is noticeable that, with about 85%, increased PV is supposed to cover the major share of the additional RES needed to meet the overall future target in this scenario (between +215.5 GW and 236.2 GW).

Fig. 8 illustrates the optimization results as hourly duration curves of the residual loads. Although the RES shares vary quite considerably between the scenario with the minimal range of residual load and the scenario with the minimal surplus energy, it becomes clear from the figure that the differences in the course of the residual load are less distinct. Hence, the results suggest that only increasing offshore wind is likely to cause a similar need for flexibility as a combination of additional PV and offshore wind.

However, if the major share of the RES expansion is achieved by PV, as is the case in the third scenario, the course of the residual load duration curve differs quite considerably. Of all three target scenarios, this one shows the biggest integrals of the residual load, above as well as below the abscissae in Fig. 8. Hence, the minimization of surplus time is apparently associated with a doubling of surplus energy (see Table 4).

The significant variation between the high PV scenario and the other two scenarios can also be seen when comparing the frequency distribution of the hourly load gradients of all three scenarios in Fig. 9a. The fat tails of the minimal surplus time scenario indicate that this not only has the biggest absolute annual range of residual load (see Table 4 and Fig. 8), but also the highest hourly gradients, i.e. the change in residual load from 1 h to another.

The dissimilar temporal change of the need for flexibility is especially evident when looking at the course of the load gradients over several hours. Due to the strong and comparatively regular intraday fluctuations in demand and PV production [1,27], the greatest difference in the residual load gradient usually occurs within a day. To show the most extreme deviations, Fig. 9b and c compare the days with the maximum and minimum gradients of the residual load for the meteorological year 2011, which was used in all the scenarios. While there are hardly any significant differences between the three scenarios for days with minimum deviations of the residual load, the minimal surplus time scenario with the biggest share of PV shows the highest maximal variations. For this scenario, in particular, the coincidence of weatherdependent RES generation and fluctuating demand is likely to cause more extreme residual load gradients in the morning and evening hours.

6. Conclusions

In light of the increasing shares of RES, the future need for flexibility is broadly discussed in the scientific literature with the aim of evaluating the influence of different factors. This paper uses a new approach to shed light on the uncertainty about the flexibility needs of the future energy system. By defining three different flexibility dimensions: range of residual load, surplus energy and surplus time, and then minimizing them in optimizations, this paper shows the impact on the residual load of the different characteristics of weather-dependent PV, onshore and offshore wind, as well as their actual installed capacities. For an exemplary German energy system with 80% RES, it is shown that a scenario with increased offshore wind has a similar effect on the residual load as a combination of increased PV and offshore wind. The scenario with increased offshore wind minimizes the range of the residual load, while the scenario with increased PV plus offshore minimizes the surplus energy. With very high PV shares, the daily pattern of electricity generation minimizes the surplus time but strongly increases the hourly gradients as well as the quantity of surplus energy. This further hampers the utilization of the surplus energy in other sectors, e.g. via power-to-heat or power-to-gas, mainly due to the reduced full-load hours for such technologies.

The constraints (7) to (10) for all three optimization problems are based on the weather conditions in 2011. This year is considered a normal year with average feed-in of wind and solar. Although the optimal combination of fluctuating RES is likely to vary for different meteorological years, the general conclusions of this exemplary analysis of the German energy system remain valid. Without specifying the term flexibility in more detail than the cited definition by IEA, it is not possible to determine the optimal combination of intermittent RES that will minimize the future energy system's need for flexibility. The scenario results for the three different flexibility attributes derived in this analysis may serve to open a discussion about a more precise definition and understanding of the term flexibility and the future need for it. This may lead to a prioritization and maybe to a weighting of the three flexibility attributes presented here: a) minimal range of residual load, b) minimal surplus energy and c) minimal surplus time, or help to identify other aspects that should be considered. It does not seem realistic that a sole focus on these attributes will guide future RES expansion. Nevertheless, this paper fosters an understanding of how the generation characteristics of PV, onshore and offshore wind influence the need for flexibility. Onshore wind is a

Table 4

Optimal combination of fluctuating renewable energy sources (RES) and key figures for the residual load in three future scenarios with 80% RES compared to a reference system in 2025.

		Reference (A 2025)	Minimal range of residual load	Minimal surplus energy	Minimal surplus time	
					low	high
RES capacity	Photovoltaic [GW]	54	54	97	216	236
	Onshore wind [GW]	53	53	53	53	64
	Offshore wind [GW]	9	51	42	9	15
Residual load	Annual maximum [GW]	80	77	78	79	79
	Annual minimum [GW]	11	-51	64	110	-103
	Annual range [GW]	91	129	142	182	189
	Surplus energy [TWh/a]	0	-34	30	76	-66
	Surplus time [h/a]	39	2,483	2.238	1.947	1958



Fig. 8. Residual load duration curves of three future scenarios with 80% renewable energy sources that meet different flexibility criteria compared to a reference system in 2025.



Fig. 9. Hourly gradients of residual load for three future scenarios with 80% renewable energy sources that meet different flexibility criteria compared to a reference system in 2025 a) as yearly frequency distribution in modal classes of 2 GW as well as for the day of the year with b) the maximum and c) the minimum course of the residual load gradients.

fundamental element in most scenarios concerning the development of the energy system due to its relatively low levelized cost of electricity and its market maturity, see, for example, [28]. However, the results presented here indicate there is a cost trade-off between the scenario with the lowest RES generation costs and the one with the lowest need for flexibility. This should be kept in mind when planning any increase in installed RES capacities.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

References

- S.M. Braun, C. Brunner, Price sensitivity of hourly day-ahead and quarterhourly intraday auctions in Germany, Z. Energiewirtschaft 4 (2018).
- [2] R. Grünwald, M. Ragwitz, F. Sensfuß, J. Winkler, Regenerative Energieträger zur Sicherung der Grundlast in der Stromversorgung, Büro für Technikfolgen-Abschätzungen beim Deutschen Bundestag, Berlin, 2012.
- [3] M. Sterner, I. Stadler, Energiespeicher: Bedarf Technologien Integration, Springer Vieweg, Berlin Heidelberg, 2014.
- [4] P. Denholm, M. Hand, Grid flexibility and storage required to achieve very high penetration of variable renewable electricity, Energy Policy, Band 39 (2011) 1817–1830.
- [5] M. Huber, D. Dimkova, T. Hamacher, Integration of wind and solar power in Europe: assessment of flexibility requirements, *Energy*, Band 69 (2014) 236–246.
- [6] W.-P. Schill, Residualload, renewable surplus generation and storage requirements in Germany, Energy Policy, Band 73 (2014) 65–79.
- [7] J. Bertsch, C. Growitsch, S. Lorenczik, S. Nagl, Flexibility in Europe's power sector — an additional requirement or an automatic complement? Energy Econ. Band 53 (2016) 118–131.
- [8] D. Pudjianto, M. Aunedi, P. Djapic, G. Strbac, Whole-systems assessment of the value of energy storage in low- carbon electricity systems, IEEE Trans. Smart Grid, Band 5 (2014) 1098–1109.
- [9] BMWi, An Electricity Market for Germany's Energy Transition. White Paper by the Federal Ministry of Economic Affairs and Energy, Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie, Berlin, 2015 (BMWi) [Online].
- [10] H. Gils, et al., Integrated modelling of variable renewable energy-based power supply in Europe, Energy, Band 123 (2017) 173–188.
- [11] G. Strbac, et al., Strategic Assessment of the Role and Value of Energy Storage Systems in the UK Low Carbon Energy Future, 2012 (London: s.n).
- [12] German TSO, Wie funktioniert die Erstellung des Netzentwicklungsplans? [Online] Available at: https://www.netzentwicklungsplan.de/, 2016.
- [13] German TSO, Netzentwicklungsplan Strom 2025, Version 2015, Erster Entwurf der Übertragungsnetzbetreiber, 50Hertz Transmission GmbH, Amprion GmbH, TenneT TSO GmbH, Berlin, Dortmund, Bayreuth, Stuttgart, 2015a. TransnetBW GmbH (German TSO) [Online].
- [14] anemos, Dokumentation über den Windatlas für Europa und den daraus abgeleiteten Windverhältnissen, anemos Gesellschaft für Umweltmeteorologie mbH, Reppenstatedt, 2013.
- [15] entso-e, Hourly load values for a specific country for a specific month (in MW) [Online] Available at: https://www.entsoe.eu/db-query/consumption/mhlv-aspecific-country-for-a-specific-month, 2016.

- [16] COSMO-EU, Regionalmodell COSMO-EU [Online] Available at: https://www. dwd.de/DE/forschung/wettervorhersage/num_modellierung/01_num_ vorhersagemodelle/regionalmodell_cosmo_eu.html, 2016 [Zugriff am 2016].
- [17] IEA, Empowering Variable Renewables: Options for Flexible Electricity Systems, International Energy Agency (IEA), Paris, 2008 [Online]).
- [18] BMWi, Erneuerbare Energien in Zahlen: Nationale und internationale Entwicklung im Jahr 2015, Bundesministerium f
 ür Wirtschaft und Energie, Berlin, 2016 (BMWi) [Online].
- [19] BNetzA, O-NEP [Online] Available at: https://www.netzausbau.de/ SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/2025/NEP/O-NEP-Karten.pdf? blob=publicationFile. 2016 [Zugriff am 08 03 2017].
- [20] GL Garrad Hassan, A guide to UK offshore wind operations and maintenance [Online] Available at: https://www.thecrownestate.co.uk/media/5419/ei-kmin-om-om-062013-guide-to-uk-offshore-wind-operations-and-maintenance. pdf, 2013 [Zugriff am 08 03 2017].
- [21] UBA, Energieziel 2050: 100% Strom aus erneuerbaren Quellen, Dessau-Roßlau: Umwelt Bundesamt, 2010 (UBA) [Online].
- [22] German TSO, Offshore Netzentwicklungsplan 2025, Version 2015, Erster Entwurf der Übertragungsnetzbetreiber, 50Hertz Transmission GmbH, Amprion GmbH, TenneT TSO GmbH, Berlin, Dortmund, Bayreuth, Stuttgart, 2015b. TransnetBW GmbH (German TSO) [Online].
- [23] IEA, Harnessing Variable Renewables: A Guide to the Balancing Challenge, International Energy Agency (IEA), Paris, 2011 [Online]).
- [24] C. Brunner, Changes in electricity spot price formation in Germany caused by a high share of renewable energies, Energy Syst. 5 (1) (2014) 45–64.
- [25] BNetzA, Quartalsbericht zu Netz- und Systemsicherheitsmaßnahmen (Erstes und zweites Quartal 2015), Bundesnetzagentur (BNetzA) für Elektrizität, Bonn, 2015 (Gas, Telekommunikation, Post und Eisenbahnen [Online]).
- [26] T. Müller, C. Brunner, Flexibilitätsoptionen zur Systemintegration erneuerbarer Energien im Kostenvergleich. IEWT 2015 - 9. Internationale Energiewirtschaftstagung "Energiesysteme im Wandel: Evolution oder Revolution?, 2015, 11.-13.02.2015, Wien.
- [27] G. Kaestle, Bewertung des Stromspeicherbedarfs mittels der fouriertransformierten Restlast. IEWT 2011 - 7. Internationale Energiewirtschaftstagung "Energieversorgung 2011: Märkte um des Marktes Willen?, 2011, 16.-18.02.2011, Wien.
- [28] German TSO, Bericht der deutschen Übertragungsnetzbetreiber zur Leistungsbilanz 2013 nach EnWG §12 Abs. 4 und 5, s.l.: 50Hertz Transmission GmbH, 2013. Amprion GmbH, TenneT TSO GmbH, TransnetBW GmbH (German TSO) [Online].
- [31] M. Child, C. Kemfert, D. Bogdanov, C. Breyer, Flexible electricity generation, grid exchange and storage for the transition to a 100% renewable energy system in Europe, Renewable Energy (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.renene.2019.02.077. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0960148119302319.
- [32] G. Papaefthymiou, E. Haesen, T. Sach, Power System Flexibility Tracker: Indicators to track flexibility progress towards high-RES systems, Renewable Energy (2018), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.04.094. https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0960148118305196.
- [33] L. Saarinen, N. Dahlbäck, U. Lundin, Power system flexibility need induced by wind and solar power intermittency on time scales of 1-14 days, Renewable Energy (2015), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2015.04.048. https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0960148115003286.

Further Reading

- [29] C. Kost, et al., Levelized Cost of Electricity. s.l.:s.N, 2013.
- [30] V. Quaschning, Würde da nicht das Licht ausgehen? Sonne Wind Wärme (7) (2012) 10-12, 2012.